Regulation of Litter Decomposition in Forest Ecosystems of Sweden and New Zealand

Benjamin Jackson

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Ecology and Management Umeå



Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Umeå 2012 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2012:96

Cover: Understory of temperate rainforest, Island Hill, Westland, New Zealand (photo: B.Jackson)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-576-7743-3 © 2012 Benjamin Jackson, Umeå Print: Arkitektkopia AB, Umeå 2012

Regulation of Litter Decomposition in Forest Ecosystems of Sweden and New Zealand

Abstract

Litter decomposition is a core ecosystem process critical for carbon and nutrient cycling, and the functioning of terrestrial ecosystems. This thesis explores two contrasting ways by which plants can influence litter decomposition in forested ecosystems. The first half of the thesis examined the role of feather mosses in mediating the environmental conditions on the soil surface in boreal forests and the impact this has on litter decomposition. The feather moss layer intercepts much of the litterfall in boreal forests as well as retaining significant quantities of rainfall. The results showed that the pattern of moisture inputs to the moss layer was a major driver of litter decomposition and moss-associated cyanobacterial N2-fixation. Under conditions of limited moisture availability the mosses promoted the decomposition of leaf litter within the moss layer by preventing the desiccation of the litter, maintaining decomposer activity. In this way the effect of the moss layer was dependent on the prevailing moisture conditions. Further, the results showed that the moss layer promoted the decomposition of intercepted leaf litter to a similar extent across all stages of a 360-year successional gradient, despite a large increase in the depth of the moss layer and changing ecosystem properties. The second half of the thesis investigated two poorly explored aspects of the relationships between plant functional traits, litter quality and litter decomposition in temperate rain forests in New Zealand. The results showed that the decomposition of leaf, twig and wood litter of 27 cooccurring tree species was uncoordinated. This lack of coordination occurred because wood decomposition was driven by differences in the wood density of trees, which itself was unrelated to the chemical traits driving the decomposition of leaf and twig litter. The results also revealed a high degree of intraspecific variation in the leaf functional traits and leaf litter decomposition of 16 co-occurring plant species. Within species, leaf traits varied predictably in response to a soil nutrient gradient but were not related to the variations in decomposition. Overall, the results of this thesis illustrate the important and contrasting impacts that plants can have on litter decomposition, and contributes to the understanding of the complex interactions between multiple factors that regulate litter decomposition in forest ecosystems.

Keywords: boreal forest, temperate rain forest, litter decomposition, feather moss, succession, plant functional traits, coarse wood debris, intraspecific variation.

Author's address: Benjamin Jackson, SLU, Department of Forest Ecology and Management, SE-901 83 Umeå, Sweden *E-mail:* Benjamin.Jackson@slu.se

Dedication

To Mum and Dad

Contents

List of Publications	7
 Introduction 1.1 Decomposition: a fundamental ecosystem process 	9 9
1.2 Regulation of litter decomposition	10
1.3 Mosses in the understory of boreal forests	12
1.4 Afterlife effects of plant functional traits	14
1.5 Objectives	16
2 Materials and Methods	19
2.1 Experimental designs	19
2.2 Study Systems	22
2.2.1 Boreal forests	22
2.2.2 Temperate rain forests	22
2.3 Field work and sampling	22
2.3.1 Stand and plot characterization, and plot establishment	22
2.3.2 Sampling of plant and soil materials	25
2.4 Methodology	26
2.4.1 N ₂ -fixation	26
2.4.2 Decomposition	26
2.4.3 Trait measurements	26
2.4.4 Soil analyses	27
2.5 Statistics	28
3 Results and Discussion	31
3.1 Moss effects on decomposition in boreal forests	31
3.1.1 Rainfall patterns drive moss effects on litter decomposition an	id
moss-associated N ₂ -fixation	31
3.1.2 Moss layer promotes litter decomposition across a boreal fore	st
chronosequence	33
3.2 Functional traits and decomposition in temperate rainforests	35
3.2.1 Traits and decomposition of leaves and wood are decoupled	35
3.2.2 Within-species trait variation and decomposition are unrelated	1 38
3.3 Summary and conclusions	40
4 References	43
Acknowledgements	51

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Jackson B.G., Martin P., Nilsson M-C. & Wardle, D.A. (2011). Response of feather moss associated N₂-fixation and litter decomposition to variations in simulated rainfall intensity and frequency. *Oikos* vol 120(4), 570-581.
- II Jackson B.G., Nilsson M-C. & Wardle, D.A. The effects of the moss layer on the decomposition of intercepted vascular plant litter across a post-fire boreal forest chronosequence. *Submitted manuscript*.
- III Jackson B.G., Peltzer D.A. & Wardle, D.A. (2012). Are functional traits and litter decomposability coordinated across leaf, twig and wood tissues? A test using temperate rainforest tree species. *Oikos* In press doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2012.00056.x
- IV Jackson B.G., Peltzer D.A. & Wardle, D.A. The within-species leaf economic spectrum does not predict intraspecific leaf litter decomposition, nor improves the power of community trait measures to predict decomposition. *Manuscript*.

Paper I is reproduced with the kind permission of the publisher, John Wiley and sons.

1 Introduction

1.1 Decomposition: a fundamental ecosystem process

The decomposition of organic matter has long been studied as a fundamentally important ecosystem process (Cadisch & Giller, 1997; Swift *et al.*, 1979). In terrestrial ecosystems, the decomposer subsystem broadly performs two key functions, the degradation and mineralisation of dead organic matter, and soil formation and development (Swift *et al.*, 1979). Together these functions exert major controls over the carbon cycle, soil nutrient availability, and consequently, plant growth and community structure (Bardgett, 2005; Wardle, 2002). An understanding of the factors that influence decomposition is thus essential to the broader understanding of ecosystem functioning and our ability to forecast the effects on ecosystems of global change phenomena such as biodiversity loss, land use change, eutrophication, and climate change.

A long-standing challenge in ecological research is to understand how the great diversity of organisms in any given ecosystem contributes to the overall functioning and development of that ecosystem (Maestre *et al.*, 2012; Loreau *et al.*, 2001). Research efforts directed towards answering the underlying questions of how biodiversity and ecosystem process are related, are of particular importance given: (i) the unprecedented rates of biodiversity loss world wide (Cardinale *et al.*, 2012) and (ii) the extensive changes to ecosystems including the loss and gain of species caused by other global change drivers (Wardle *et al.*, 2011). In the last twenty years, much of the initial focus of biodiversity-ecosystem function research was on above ground processes and in particular, primary productivity (Loreau *et al.*, 2001). However, more recently over the last decade, the role of biodiversity in below ground processes including decomposition has received much greater attention (Gessner *et al.*, 2010). The decomposer subsystem is the most complex component of terrestrial ecosystems, in particular because of the numbers and

diversity of organisms it involves. There are many pathways and mechanisms by which microbial, fungal, animal and plant diversity can influence decomposition and other below ground processes.

1.2 Regulation of litter decomposition

In general, three principle factors regulate the decomposition of plant organic matter in terrestrial ecosystems (Figure 1; Aerts, 1997; Couteaux et al., 1995): (i) Across broad regional scales, plant litter decomposition rates are strongly related to mean annual temperate and precipitation. Actual evapotranspiration (AET) is commonly used as an effective predictor of litter decomposition in global biogeochemical models (Aerts, 1997; Couteaux et al., 1995); (ii) At local scales where climatic conditions are relatively constant, litter quality dominates as the principle determinant of decomposition rates (Cornwell et al., 2008). Litter quality is governed by the relative proportions of its chemical constituents. Plant litter of higher quality will tend to have greater concentrations of nutrients such as nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) and labile carbohydrates, while plant litter of lower quality will tend to have greater concentrations of complex, stable organic compounds, in particular lignin but also secondary compounds such as tannins and phenolics; and (iii) Specific groups and assemblages of decomposer soil fauna such as earthworms, nematodes, mites and collembola as well as the relative abundance of bacteria vs. fungi in the decomposer flora can have major impacts on how litter decomposition proceeds (Bardgett & Wardle, 2010; Wall et al., 2008; Hattenschwiler et al., 2005). In addition, all three of these major regulating factors can interact at varying spatial and temporal scales making the understanding of the drivers of decomposition significantly more difficult. Further, plants are known to directly or indirectly impact all three of these factors. This thesis focuses on two pathways by which plant functional groups and plant diversity can influence litter decomposition in forested ecosystems, namely: (A) through the modification of local environmental conditions; and (B) by determining the quality and quantity of litter entering the decomposer subsystem (Figure 1).

The physical forms of plants and plant communities as well as the functions they perform can significantly modify local environmental conditions and create heterogeneous patches of microclimatic conditions (Maestre *et al.*, 2005), with consequences for ecosystem processes such as decomposition. Examples include: (i) the interception of light by tree canopies that prevent the passage of solar radiation to the forest floor and reduce soil temperatures; (ii) the modification of the passage of water through ecosystems by the

interception of rainfall and fog by plant structures or by hydraulic uplift by deep rooted plants transferring water to surface soils (Eviner & Chapin III, 2003). However, as with other aspects of the structure and functioning of ecosystems, the effects of plants on environmental conditions can differ significantly between species. A longstanding approach to understand plant species in terms of their effects on ecosystems has been to classify species into functional groups, groups of species that have common characteristics and consequent effects on a particular ecosystem process. In forest ecosystems, trees have been long studied as a predominant functional group of plants having important effects on ecosystem processes including their modification of local environmental conditions. However, understory plants are now increasingly recognized as also having groups of species, with important effects on the functioning of some forest ecosystems (Hart & Chen, 2008; Nilsson & Wardle, 2005). Feather mosses are an important functional group of plants in the understory of boreal forests known to mediate environmental conditions that may have important potential consequences for litter decomposition.



Figure 1. This thesis focuses on two pathways (A and B) by which plant functional groups and plant diversity can influence the principle factors regulating litter decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems (i, ii, and iii).

In addition to modifying environmental conditions in terrestrial ecosystems, plants are usually the main sources of dead organic matter entering the decomposer subsystem, with up to 90% of plant productivity channelled as detritus (McNaughton et al., 1989). The quality of plant-derived litter varies greatly between plant species and between different plant organs. As such, consideration of the composition and relative abundance of species in plant communities are central to the understanding of the quality of plant litter entering the decomposer subsystem and hence litter decomposition rates. Characterizing and comparing the differences in litter quality between plant species can be achieved through the measurement of plant functional traits (PFTs). These PFTs are indicators of how plants respond to their biotic and abiotic environments and/or how they affect ecosystem processes and properties (Suding et al., 2008; Violle et al., 2007), in this case decomposition. Extensive research into PFTs has shown that many of the functional attributes of living plant tissues are well conserved after senescence (Cornelissen, 1996) and are effective predictors of litter decomposition rates (Cornwell et al., 2008). However, there remain many aspects of the relationships between plant functional traits, litter quality and decomposition that have not been explored.

1.3 Mosses in the understory of boreal forests

The understory is an important component of boreal forests known to have strong effects on the decomposer subsystem and soil properties of these ecosystems (Nilsson & Wardle, 2005). Two distinct functional groups of plants dominate the boreal forest understory, ericaceous dwarf shrubs and feather mosses. Feather mosses are the most abundant moss species in boreal forests and typically dominate the ground layer forming a dense, continuous mat covering the soil surface. Both the mosses and the structure of the moss layer possess a number of characteristics with important consequences for carbon and nutrient cycling that remain poorly characterized. The dense and contiguous structure of the moss layer intercepts most of the litter fall from the trees and shrubs. Few estimates exist of the extent of the interception of litter by understory species but it has been shown to be as high as 60-70% in some forests (Hendricks et al., 2002; Alvarez-Sanchez & Guevara, 1999). However, by preventing the litter from reaching the soil surface, the interception and retention of litter in the moss layer in boreal forests has potentially important but largely unexplored consequences for the subsequent decomposition of the litter. To date, a handful of studies have quantified the effects of mosses on litter decomposition, and these have provided conflicting results. While on one hand mosses can insulate the soil surface, buffering soil temperatures and thus

retarding decomposition (Vancleve *et al.*, 1991; Bonan & Shugart, 1989), they may also promote litter decomposition through moisture retention and maintaining the water content of decomposing litter (Hoorens *et al.*, 2009; Wardle, 2003).

Like all bryophytes, feather mosses are also poikilohydric organisms, lacking roots and a cuticle to prevent desiccation and are thus dependent on rainfall inputs to maintain their water status (Busby et al., 1978). However, the moss layer is well adapted to intercept and retain moisture and nutrient inputs and under favorable conditions can be highly productive (Rydgren et al., 2001; Okland & Okland, 1996). Further, boreal feather mosses host cyanobacteria capable of fixing atmospheric N that can be the principle source of biologically fixed N in these forests (DeLuca et al., 2002a). In northern Sweden, during forest succession the rates of N2-fixation in the moss layer increase with stand age and can exceed 2 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. This represents \sim 50% of total N inputs in mid- and late-successional forests (Lagerstrom et al., 2007; Zackrisson et al., 2004). Although the growth of feather mosses has been shown to be limited by water availability (Frolking, 1997; Busby et al., 1978) and the nitrogenase enzyme in some cyanobacterial species is susceptible to droughting (Scherer *et* al., 1984; Coxson & Kershaw, 1983), it is not known if N₂-fixation occurring within the moss layer in boreal forests are also affected by water availability. Similarly, it is unclear if the decomposition of intercepted leaf litter in the moss layer may also be affected by moisture availability. These questions are important for two reasons. First, past records indicate that the boreal zone in northern Sweden has strong inter-annual variation in rainfall both in terms of the amounts and frequency of events (SMHI, 2000). Such variations may strongly affect moss-associated processes. Second, precipitation patterns are expected to change as a consequence of global climate change. The predictions based on the IPCC models for the boreal region in northern Europe, indicate increases in both mean summer precipitation and the frequency of rainfall events during summer over the next 80 to 100 years (Meehl & Stocker, 2007). It is also increasingly recognized that changes in the frequency and intensity of rainfall events will have stronger effects on ecosystem functioning than will shifts in mean values of global change drivers such as temperature and CO_2 (Jentsch & Beierkuhnlein, 2008). Despite this, the potential consequences of changing precipitation regimes for the functioning of boreal ecosystems have attracted little attention.

In the prolonged absence of wildfire, succession in the plant communities of boreal forests results in important changes in both the overstory and understory (Turetsky *et al.*, 2010; Nilsson & Wardle, 2005). Together with changes in the plant community, several important ecosystem properties shift, including a

reduction in productivity, and declines in the rates of litter decomposition and nutrient cycling (Wardle & Zackrisson, 2005). In the understory, the ericaceous dwarf shrubs are known to play an important role in driving the changing ecosystem properties. Early successional shrub species provide higher quality resources and enhance microbial growth (Wardle & Zackrisson, 2005), while later successional species produce recalcitrant litter which are rich in secondary compounds and that have inhibitory effects on the decomposer subsystem (Joanisse et al., 2007; Bloom & Mallik, 2006; Nilsson, 1994; Nilsson et al., 1993). However, changes also occur to the moss layer during succession. While feather mosses remain the dominant moss species throughout succession, in the absence of fire the biomass and density of mosses increases as forest stands age. Further, in comparison to the vascular species in boreal forests, feather mosses produce recalcitrant litter that decomposes relatively slowly (Lang et al., 2009), resulting in an increase in the depth of the moss layer (including both live and dead moss segments) over time. These changes to the characteristics of the moss layer during ecosystem succession may also have important effects on litter decomposition and nutrient dynamics but have not previously been explored.

1.4 Afterlife effects of plant functional traits

Over the last 20 years, the vast bulk of research on plant functional traits has been focused on the traits of leaves as key plant organs that perform essential functions, and that reflect aspects of the plant's ecological strategy. Leaf functional traits are readily measured and this has resulted in the generation of many large trait data sets. Global syntheses of these trait data have lead to significant insights including the identification of the leaf economic spectrum (LES) (Diaz *et al.*, 2004; Wright *et al.*, 2004; Grime *et al.*, 1997). The LES describes an axis of specialization along which all vascular plants trade off the rapid acquisition of resources and rapid leaf growth and turnover, with the conservation of resources and leaf protection and longevity (Wright *et al.*, 2004). Further, many of the same leaf economic traits have also been shown to be the principle determinants of the quality of the leaf litter produced by plant species and are thus a major factor regulating litter decomposition rates world-wide (Cornwell *et al.*, 2008; Santiago, 2007).

Despite these and other significant advances in plant functional trait research, there are important gaps in our understanding. Two such gaps have been attracting attention recently. First, the functional traits of plant organs other than leaves, such as stems, branches and roots are typically more difficult to quantify, and in comparison with leaf traits have rarely been measured.

However, it is now recognized that in order to more accurately understand the ecological strategies of whole plants and their contributions to ecosystem processes, it is necessary to corroborate the insights made from leaf traits analyses with comparative analyses of the traits of other plant organs. Second, it has been generally believed that functional traits are relatively invariant within a species and that mean values of traits are sufficient to capture the strategy and function of a species. Nonetheless, a number of new data sets with highly replicated trait measures of individual plant species across communities, have brought into question this poorly tested assumption.

In addition to leaves, other plant organs are integral to the growth and survival of plants, and the traits of these organs should also reflect plant ecological strategies and determine important effects of plants on ecosystem processes (Freschet et al., 2010; Suding et al., 2008; De Deyn et al., 2004). Wood plays a critical structural function in trees and other woody plant species. In forest ecosystems, standing stocks of live and dead wood can represent significant carbon and nutrient pools, but understanding of how differences between species in the characteristics of their wood impacts on decomposition and other ecosystem processes remains poor. Some of the most extensive measurements of wood traits across tree species has come from the Amazon, and these have identified a spectrum of wood trait variation across species analogous to the LES (Chave et al., 2009). This wood economic spectrum (WES) describes physiological, structural and defensive tradeoffs across species in the characteristics of their wood. In support of the ecological significance of the WES, several other studies have since shown that key traits underpinning the WES are linked to demographic processes including growth, mortality and the life history strategies of wood species (Poorter et al., 2010; Russo et al., 2010). The integration and potential coordination of functional traits across plant organs has also been examined in three studies that have compared variation across species in their leaf traits with that of their stems and/or roots (Baraloto et al., 2010; Freschet et al., 2010; Ishida et al., 2008). These include a recent study from the Swedish subarctic, which found the variation across species in the traits determining the rates of decomposition of their leaves, stems and roots to be highly coordinated (Freschet *et al.*, 2010). This resulted in consistent interspecific patterns of decomposition across the different plant organs. However, to date no study has established if processes driven by leaf and wood traits such as their decomposability are closely coordinated among organs for tree species.

Just as most studies of plant functional traits have focused on leaf traits, most have also focused on the differences between species to explain ecological patterns. An unintended consequence of this has been the neglect of

the potential importance of within species trait variability. However, a handful of data sets now show that the magnitude of within species trait variation (WSV) relative to between species variation (BSV) is much larger than previously thought. Further, through novel analyses these studies have demonstrated that the extent of the WSV is sufficient to impact measures of functional diversity (Albert et al., 2011; Albert et al., 2010a), community assembly (Jung et al., 2010), and how communities respond to environmental gradients (Albert et al., 2010a; Jung et al., 2010). Accordingly, several authors have highlighted the need for further exploration of the circumstances and species for which WSV should be considered (Violle et al., 2012; Albert et al., 2011; Hulshof & Swenson, 2010). It has also been suggested that WSV may impact ecosystem processes like decomposition but as yet this remains untested. Significant WSV in leaf and litter traits have been observed to influence the decomposition of leaf litter for individual species (eg. Lecerf & Chauvet, 2008; Schweitzer et al., 2004). However, as of yet, no multi-species studies have investigated the potential impact of WSV to drive differences in litter decomposition within species nor how this in turn may impact how decomposition varies between whole plant communities.

1.5 Objectives

The overall aim of this thesis is to further our understanding of how functional groups of plants and plant functional traits influence the decomposition of plant organic matter in forested ecosystems (Figure 1). Papers I and II examine the role of mosses in Swedish boreal forests in decomposer processes through the interception of litterfall. Specifically, Paper I examines how the moss layer buffers moisture availability within the moss layer and the consequences of this for litter decomposition and N₂-fixation rates occurring within the moss layer Meanwhile, Paper II explores the effect of the moss layer during the successional development of boreal forests. Papers III and IV focus on the role of plant functional traits in determining the litter quality and decomposition of plant litter in temperate rainforests of New Zealand. As such, Paper III explores the links between the traits of the leaves, twigs and wood of tree species and their relationships to the decomposition of litter from these plant organs. Meanwhile Paper IV compares within and between-species variation in leaf and litter traits of co-occurring forest species and their importance in driving the litter decomposition for individual species and whole plant communities.

The central questions of each of the papers in this thesis are:

- I How do variations in the amount and frequency of rainfall affect litter decomposition and N₂-fixation occurring within the moss layer in boreal forests?
- II During succession in the boreal forests, how does the presence and development of the moss layer influence the decomposition of intercepted vascular leaf litter?
- III Are the functional traits of leaves and litter of trees coordinated such that species with high quality leaf litter also have high quality twig and wood litter, resulting in coordinated interspecific patterns in the decomposition of different litter types?
- IV Does within-species variation in leaf traits drive within species variation in litter decomposition and what impact does this have for community level measures of traits and litter decomposition?

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Experimental designs

In Paper I a greenhouse pot experiment was constructed to assess the combined influence of simulated rainfall intensity and frequency as well as the presence vs. absence of mosses on litter decomposition and N2-fixation within the moss layer. A total of 432 plastic pots were each filled to 15 mm with soil and then a moss layer of Pleurozium schreberi was reconstructed over the soil surface in half of the pots. In addition, one ionic resin capsule was placed on the soil surface in each pot to estimate the cumulative N and P availability during the course of the experiment. Then six Pinus sylvestris needles of known weight were placed into each pot. The needles were inserted vertically into the moss layer in pots with mosses or placed on the soil surface in pots without mosses. Once constructed, pairs of pots, one with and one without mosses, were divided between treatment groups in a fully factorial design with n=8 replicates per treatment combination. Three different frequencies of water application (infrequent, moderate and frequent) were combined with three volumes of water (low medium and high) in a "frequency × volume" design for a total of 9 treatments groups. Water treatments were chosen to represent the range of conditions observed in the region as well as probable changes to rainfall regimes that are expected to occur with climate change by 2080-2100. Water treatments were applied for a seven-month duration and three separate destructive harvests, each representing one third of the total number of pots, were performed after 51, 130, and 214 days. At each harvest, the influence of the watering regimes on N₂-fixation in the moss layer and the decomposition of the needle litter together with the accumulation of N and P in the resin capsules were assessed. In addition, at the final harvest the relative activity of the soil microbial biomass was assessed by measuring substrate-induced respiration (SIR).

In Paper II a "removal experiment" approach was used to examine the effects of specific functional groups of plants within the understory of boreal forests, mosses and shrubs, on the decomposer subsystem. Ten forest stands varying in age from 43 to 362 years since the last wildfire were used and in each stand four 1×1 m plots were established. Moss and shrub removal treatments were applied in June 2007 to these four plots i.e. mosses removed, dwarf shrubs removed, mosses and shrubs removed and a control with both functional groups present. Given the focus of this study on the effects of the moss layer on decomposition that occur at particularly fine scales, the use of litter bags was deemed unsuitable for the purposes of this experiment. Instead, unconfined, tethered needle and leaf litter from three litter species *Pinus sylvestris, Betula pubescens* and *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* were introduced into each of the plots in June 2008.



Figure 2. Tethered birch leaves strung up in boxes before their installation into the experimental plots. Leaves and needles were tethered to facilitate retrieval of the unconfined litter after the decomposition period.

Ten individual air-dried leaves or needle pairs of known weight were carefully tied sequentially onto tethers made of dental floss (Figure 2). A total of 80 tethers for each litter species were constructed each containing 10 leaves or needle pairs for a total of 2400 leaves and needles. At each stand the two plots with mosses removed received one tether of each litter species with the litter placed on the soil surface within the plot. The two plots with mosses present received three tethers from each species. One tether per species was



installed on the surface of the moss layer, one carefully inserted within the moss layer and one underneath the moss layer at the interface with the soil. After a full year of decomposition in the field, all litter was recovered with over 96% of individual leaves and needles successfully retrieved.

In both Papers III and IV all litter was decomposed in standardized laboratory bioassays (Wardle et al., 2002) in order to assess the relationships between the PFTs of the leaves and litter and the decomposability of the litters. Accordingly, for the leaf litter from each individual from each species and from each species × plot combination in Papers III and IV respectively, three 9 cm Petri dishes were two thirds filled with a standardized humus substrate amended to 300% moisture content and covered with nylon mesh with 1 mm holes; to each Petri dish 1g subsamples of air dried leaf litter were cut into 2cm² fragments and placed on the surface of the mesh; the Petri dish was then sealed to prevent water loss and incubated for 4 months at 22 °C. Similarly, for the twig and wood litter in Paper III from each individual from each species, three glass jars were one-third filled with a standardized humus substrate amended to 300% moisture content. For the twig litter, a nylon mesh (as above) was place on the soil surface in the jars and 1g air-dried twig litter cut to 30mm lengths added to each jar. For the jars with wood litter, one cylindrical plug of wood (10 mm in diameter and 30 mm in length) was placed directly on the soil surface (Figure 3). Twig and wood litter was incubated for 20 months at \sim 20 °C and after five, ten and 15 months the moisture content of the humus in a subset of the jars was checked and the moisture content of all jars adjusted to 300%.



Figure 3. Examples of (a) wood litter and (b) leaf litter decomposing under controlled conditions. Photos: B.Jackson

2.2 Study Systems

2.2.1 Boreal forests

Papers I and II focus on boreal forests situated around the town of Arvidsjaur in northern Sweden (65°35'-66°07'N, 17°15'-19°26'E) (Figure 4a). The area has a cold temperate humid climate with a mean annual temperature of -2 °C (July temperature 12 °C, January temperature -14 °C) and a mean annual precipitation of 600 mm. The studied forests have developed on soils consisting of granitic glacial till, classed as either Typic or Entic Haplocryods (Zackrisson *et al.*, 1996). Forests in this region are dominated by the tree species *Pinus sylvestris*, *Betula pubescens* and *Picea abies* (Figure 5). The forest understory or field layer is principally comprised of three ericaceous dwarf shrubs, *Vaccinium myrtillus*, *V. vitis-idaea and Empetrum hermaphroditum*. The ground layer consists of mosses and lichens and is typically dominated by the feather moss *Pleurozium schreberi*. Together these species typically account for over 95% of the standing plant biomass in these forests.

2.2.2 Temperate rain forests

Papers III and IV center on temperate rainforest in the Westland region of New Zealand (Figure 4b). These forests are characterized by two main types, broadleaf-conifer forests made up of a mixed canopy of evergreen angiosperms and emergent podocarps (gymnosperms; Figure 6), and southern beech forests dominated by evergreen *Nothofagus* tree species (Wardle, 1991). The region has a wet temperate climate. The annual average temperature is 11° C (Hessel, 1982), while the average annual rainfall varies across locations from 2.5 to more than 6 m. The Westland region has a considerable spatial variability of basal substrate. The most abundant substrate is schist that has derived from glacial outwashes and is heavily leached (Leathwick *et al.*, 2003). However, as a result of the complex geomorphology of the region, several other basal substrates also commonly occur including greywacke, granite and limestone.

2.3 Field work and sampling

2.3.1 Stand and plot characterization, and plot establishment

In Paper II stand and vegetation characteristics were characterized in September 2009. The basal area of the three tree species present (*P. sylvestris*, *P. abies* and *B. pubescens*) on the plots was determined using a 15-point relascope survey in each stand (Bitterlich, 1984). In each stand the biomass of the three dominant understory shrub species (*E. hermaphroditum*, *V. myrtillus*



Figure 4. Locations of (a) the ten stands forming a 362 year post-fire chronosequence in northern Swedish boreal forests used in Paper II and (b) the 8 topographic sequences situated in pairs on each of the four major basal rock types found in the West Coast region of New Zealand used in Paper IV.



Figure 5. A late successional boreal forest stand in the Vaksliden nature reserve in northern Sweden. Photo: B.Jackson



Figure 6. Mixed broadleaf and coniferous temperate rainforest lining the banks of Kawhaka creek in the Westland region of New Zeland. Photo: B.Jackson



and V. vitis-idaea) was determined by the point intercept method (100 points \times ten 1m² plots in each stand) converting point counts to biomass based on calibrated relationships (Wardle *et al.*, 2003a). Depth of *P. schreberi* was measured at 10 random points and humus depth was measured at 6 random points in each stand. In Paper IV the vegetation in each of the 32 plots was surveyed in 10 \times 20 m subplots and the diameter at breast height (135cm) of all trees greater than 2 cm was recorded.

2.3.2 Sampling of plant and soil materials

For both Papers I and II litter material was collected from the Reivo Nature reserve ($65^{\circ}46'N$ 19°06'E) in September 2007. Fresh senescent litter was collected from *P. sylvestris* and *B. pubescens* by shaking branches and intercepting the falling litter with a tarpaulin. Litter from *V. vitis-idaea* was collected by hand by picking blackened leaves still attached to the plants. In Paper II, soil samples were taken from each of the four removal plots from each stand to assess the effect of the removal treatments on the availability of mineral N and P in the soils across the chronosequence. Three 5 cm diameter cores were taken from each plot to a depth of 15 cm and the organic layer retained and bulked.

In Paper III fresh leaf material and leaf, twig and wood litter were collected from paired live and dead trees. In Paper IV fresh leaf material and leaf litter were collected from the target species occurring in each of the plots. For both Papers III and IV, fresh leaf material was collected using an orchard pruner or a shotgun. Fully emerged green leaves were collected from mature individuals; sunlit leaves for canopy tree species and leaves of subcanopy and ground ferns were collected from the highest light environments in which they occurred. All fresh leaf material was then immediately sealed in plastic bags. Fresh senescent leaf litter was collected by hand from the forest floor beneath the individuals from which the green foliage was taken. In Paper III, fresh senescent twig litter was collected from the live tree from which the fresh leaf material was taken. Wood litter was collected from the dead tree by cutting a disc or partial disc 10 cm in thickness 130 cm from the base of the bole. In Paper IV, soil samples were taken from within the 10 x 20 m subplots used for the vegetation surveys. A minimum of three cores, 10 cm in diameter were taken from each plot, the top 10 cm of the organic layer retained and bulked to form a single sample per stand.

2.4 Methodology

2.4.1 N₂-fixation

In Paper I the rates of N_2 -fixation occurring within the potted *P. schreberi* moss communities were measured using a calibrated acetylene reduction assay (Schöllhorn & Burris, 1967) following the procedure of Zackrisson et al. (2004). Briefly, the method is based on the observation that acetylene competes with N₂ as substrate for the nitrogenase enzyme, and is reduced to ethylene. Ethylene production correlates with the rate of N₂-fixation in the *Pleurozium*-Nostoc association at a ratio of 3 mol ethylene to 1 mol N₂ fixed (DeLuca et al., 2002b). Thus the rates of ethylene production were measured by placing ten randomly selected individual moss shoots from each pot into a 22 ml glass vial. The moss shoots were moistened with 3 ml dH₂O and the vial fitted with a septum. Then 10% of the total headspace in each vial was evacuated and replaced with acetylene and the vials incubated under greenhouse conditions for 24 h. Total ethylene production was measured by gas chromatography using a flame ionisation detector. Rates of N₂-fixation were expressed by dry weight of moss or by unit area with ten P. schreberi moss shoots corresponding to 2 cm² (DeLuca et al., 2002b).

2.4.2 Decomposition

In Papers I-IV the mass loss and loss of N and P from the litter was measured following standard procedures. After the period of decomposition under greenhouse, field or laboratory conditions all remaining undecomposed litter was recovered, picked, brushed or washed clean of fungal hyphae and soil particles and then oven dried to constant mass. Litter mass loss was determined as the percentage of the initial mass (corrected for water content) lost during incubation. Net loss of N and P from the litter was calculated as the difference between the total mass x nutrient concentration prior to incubation and that after incubation. The N and P lost from the litter as proportions of the total initial quantities were calculated from these values.

2.4.3 Trait measurements

In Papers III and IV the plant functional traits (PFTs) of leaves and litter were measured following standard protocols (Cornelissen *et al.*, 2003). All sampled leaves and litter (leaf, twig and wood) were measured for C and N by dry combustion in an element analyser and for P by the Kjeldhal acid digestion method. Total phenolics (Paper III) were quantified as tannic acid equivalents following Price and Butler (1977). To determine the specific leaf area (SLA)

and leaf dry matter content (LDMC) of the green leaves, the fresh and oven dry weights of the leaves were measured together with the projected area of the fresh leaves. In Paper III the density of the wood litter samples was measured as the air-dry volume per unit oven dry weight (g cm⁻³) using the displacement method. The lumen fraction and potential hydraulic conductivity were measured by microscopy and digital analysis of the micrographs using the ImageJ software (Ferreira T. and Rasband W, Montreal, Canada). Lumen fraction was calculated as the proportion of the total area consisting of vessel and tracheid lumens. Potential hydraulic conductivity was calculated according to the Hagen-Poiseuille equation (Poorter *et al.*, 2010; Russo *et al.*, 2010; Sterck *et al.*, 2008), which is a function of the conduit density and the hydraulically weighted diameter.

2.4.4 Soil analyses

In Paper I the total mineral N and P sorbed by the ionic resin capsules and in Paper II the extractable mineral N and P in subsamples of the soil from each of the soil from each of the plots from the chronosequence stands were quantified by colorimetry. Nitrate, ammonium and phosphate were desorbed from the resin capsules and extracted from the soils using 1M KCL. The eluates and extracts were stored frozen prior to analysis on a segmented flow colorimeter.

In Papers I and II substrate-induced respiration (SIR) was measured on a subsample of the soil from each of the pots and plots, respectively. This method provides a relative measure of the active microbial biomass in soils, and the method used followed Anderson and Domsch (1978) as modified by West and Sparling (1986) and Wardle (1993). Each soil subsample was placed into a glass vial and adjusted to 120% gravimetric water content before being amended with glucose; the glass vials were then sealed and incubated at 22°C and the rate of CO₂ released between 1 and 4h estimated by measuring the concentrations of CO₂ in 1ml subsamples of the headspace of the vials by infra-red gas analysis.

In Paper IV the bulked organic soils from each plot were analyzed for a suite of chemical properties (Table 1). These analyses were performed by the Environmental Chemistry Laboratory of Manaki Whenua Landcare Research in Palmerston North, New Zealand.

respective unarytical methods ascu.		
Soil property	Analytical method	
pH	Overnight suspension in H ₂ O	
C (%)	Dry combustion, IRGA	
N (%)	Dry combustion, FID	
NO3 ⁻ (mg/kg)	Extraction in 2 M KCl; Cd reduction and NEDD	
NH4 ⁺ (mg/kg)	Extraction in 2 M KCl; indophenol reaction	
P -Kjeldhal (mg/kg)	Acid digestion H ₂ SO ₄ ; molybdenum blue	
P - Ohlson (mg/kg)	Extraction in 0.5M NaHCO ₃ ; molybdenum blue	
Ca (cmol ⁺ /kg)	Leach with 1M ammonium acetate; flame atomic absorption spectroscopy	
Mg (cmol ⁺ /kg)	Leach with 1M ammonium acetate; flame atomic absorption spectroscopy	
K (cmol ⁺ /kg)	Leach with 1M ammonium acetate; flame atomic absorption spectroscopy	
Na (cmol ⁺ /kg)	Leach with 1M ammonium acetate; flame atomic absorption spectroscopy	
Cation exchange capacity (cmol ⁺ /kg)	Ammonium ion displacement, indophenol reaction	
Base saturation (%)	Calculation	

Table 1. List of chemical properties measured for the soils sampled in Paper IV and the respective analytical methods used.

2.5 Statistics

In Paper I analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to test for the effects of the treatments and their interactions, with individual pots as the units of replication. The response of N₂-fixation to rainfall intensity and frequency was analysed by two-way ANOVA while the response of all other variables to rainfall intensity and frequency and the presence vs. absence of mosses were analysed by three-way ANOVA. In Paper II, individual forest stands were used as the principle units of replication and several permutations of ANOVA were used to test for treatment effects. As such, data on stand characteristics were analysed by one-way ANOVA testing for the effect of successional stage on each variable. Then, data on litter decomposition was analysed in two steps using split plot ANOVA. First to test for the effects of the presence of mosses and shrubs, successional stage and their interactions on decomposition, a subset of the data set was used, i.e., data for the litter placed on the upper-most soil surface from all four plots in each stand. The ANVOA was structured such that successional stage, moss removal and shrub removal were fixed factors, with moss removal and shrub removal nested within forest stand, with forest

28

stand as a random factor. Second, to test for the effects of the position of litter placement in the moss layer, shrub removal and successional stage and their interactions on decomposition, a second subset of data was used, i.e., data for the litter placed at different depths in the two plots with mosses present in each stand. The ANOVA was structured so that successional stage, shrub removal, position in the moss layer were fixed factors with depth nested within shrub removal, and shrub removal nested within forest stand, with forest stand as a random factor. Finally, data for soil moisture content, soil mineral nutrients and SIR were analysed by split plot ANOVA testing for the effects of moss and shrub removal and successional stage as described above for the litter decomposition variables. In both Papers I and II following ANVOA, post-hoc comparisons between treatments were performed using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test, adjusted for Type 1 error following the method of Benjmaini and Hochberg (1995).

In Paper III, a multivariate approach was used to test for coordinated patterns of interspecific trait variation across the different plant materials (leaves, and leaf, twig and wood litter). Trait data for each material was analysed by principle component analysis (PCA) in order to summarise the measured trait variation and covariation into fewer variables i.e. the axes derived from the PCAs. Correlation analyses were then used to test for relationships between the scores of each of the pairwise combinations of the PCA axes across the four plant materials. Then, to test for coordination in the decomposability among the leaf, twig and wood litters, correlation analysis was used to test the relationships of mass, N and P loss for each of these three litter types with each of the other litter types. Finally, to identify which traits were the best predictors of decomposition of each litter type, we used multiple regression analyses to assess the extent to which decomposability could be predicted by interspecific variation in individual traits, trait combinations and the axes of trait covariation from the PCAs. All analyses in Paper III were initially performed across all 27 species and then separately across the 18 angiosperm and the nine gymnosperm species.

In Paper IV, the variability of individual traits and litter decomposability both within and between species were quantified by coefficients of variation (CV; ie. SD/mean). Variability in N and P loss from the leaf litter were compared directly by comparing SDs because negative values prevented the calculation of CVs. Patterns of trait covariation within and between species were then examined by PCA. Further, for both individual species and for the tree species community as a whole, regression analyses were performed to examine the extent to which variation in the leaf traits was related to the soil C/N and C/P ratios (as measures of soil fertility) among plots, as well as to

variation in mass loss and N and P release during decomposition. For community level analyses a weighted traits approach (Fortunel *et al.*, 2009; Garnier *et al.*, 2007) was used, where the contributions of individual species to community level trait and decomposition measures were weighted by the relative basal area of each of the species in a plot:

$$\text{trait}_{agg} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i \times \text{trait}_i$$

where trait_{agg} is the aggregated (or weighted average) value of that trait for all tree species collected in that plot, p_i is the basal area of a tree species *i* as a proportion of the total basal area for all tree species collected in that plot, and trait_i is the value of the trait or decomposition variable for tree species *i*. Plots for which the 16 species we measured collectively accounted for less than 70% of the total basal area were excluded from community level analyses (Garnier *et al.*, 2004). In addition, the relative contributions of the turnover of species among plots, intraspecific variation of species, and their covariation to the relationships between community level trait values and soil nutrient status across the plots, were estimated following the Sum of Squares decomposition method described by Lepš *et al* (2011). All statistical analyses were performed using R: A language and environment for statistical computing (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria).

3 Results and Discussion

This thesis investigates how plants can influence litter decomposition and nutrient cycling in forested ecosystems via two contrasting pathways (Figure 1). Papers I and II explore the role of boreal feather mosses in mediating the impacts of environmental conditions on the decomposition of intercepted leaf litter and related processes occurring in association with the moss layer. Papers III and IV examine the role of plant functional traits in determining litter quality and decomposition rates for a range of temperate rainforest species. The main findings of each of these studies and their implications are discussed below.

3.1 Moss effects on decomposition in boreal forests

3.1.1 Rainfall patterns drive moss effects on litter decomposition and moss-associated $N_{\rm 2}\mathchar`-fixation$

Paper I explored the effects of contrasting simulated rainfall regimes on litter decomposition and cyanobacterial N_2 -fixation, two important ecosystem processes occurring within the moss layer of boreal forests. In the greenhouse experiment, pairs of experimental pots with and without communities of the feather moss *P. schreberi* received one of three different volumes of water applied (low, medium, high) at one of three frequencies (infrequent, moderate, frequent) for a total of nine different rainfall regimes. The results revealed that the decomposition of *P. sylvestris* litter in the pots was significantly affected by moss presence as well as by the volume and frequency of water applications. Furthermore, all three factors were interdependent with two and three-way interactions occurring. As such, higher water volume and greater frequency of watering both had positive effects on the mass loss of the litter, but they also augmented the effect of one another. Notably, frequency had particularly strong effects causing up to three-fold differences in the mass loss of litter for a

given volume of water. In turn, mass loss of the needle litter in pots containing mosses decomposed up to twice as fast as that in pots without mosses. However, this positive effect of moss presence only occurred in low volume and/or infrequent moisture treatments, when moisture availability was limiting. The N and P dynamics in the decomposing litter were similarly affected by interactive effects of the watering regimes and the presence of the mosses. Two further indicators of the activity of the decomposer subsystem were also influenced by the presence of mosses and the watering regimes. First, microbial biomass in the soil in each of the pots was buffered by the presence of mosses against the effects of watering frequency. Second, the availability of mineral N in the soil, measured by sorption by resins in resin capsules, was reduced by the presence of mosses with the most pronounced effects occurring when moisture availability was limiting. Cyanobacterial N₂-fixation rates also strongly responded to the volumes of water and frequency of water applications. Overall, both greater volumes of water and higher frequencies of application had positive effects on N₂-fixation. At medium and high water volumes, the frequency of watering caused up to five fold differences in the rates of N₂-fixation in the mosses. However, in contrast, at low volumes the rates of N₂-fixation were not influenced by watering frequency. This suggests that below a threshold of water availability, N₂-fixation is no longer responsive to the distribution of water addition over time.

Together these results have two major implications for ecosystem processes relevant for carbon and nutrient cycling in boreal forests. First, they show that above a minimum threshold, the distribution of rainfall over time is a significantly more important driver of litter decomposition and N₂-fixation in boreal forests than is the total volume of rainfall. This finding corroborates a number of studies in other ecosystems that have highlighted the importance of rainfall distribution time and stochastic rainfall events as major drivers of ecosystem processes (Chou et al., 2008; Maestre & Reynolds, 2007; Austin et al., 2004). Second, they identify a previously unknown role of feather mosses in mediating how rainfall affects the activity of decomposer organisms in breaking down litter intercepted by the moss layer. Past research has highlighted three important characteristics of feather mosses: (i) they are highly abundant plants in boreal forests (Turetsky, 2003) (ii) they produce recalcitrant litter contributing to humus accumulation (Lang et al., 2009; Legare et al., 2005); (iii) they host associated N fixing cyanobacteria that can contribute a significant proportion of the total N input to these forests (DeLuca et al., 2002b). A few studies have also indicated that mosses may promote the decomposition of litter when in contact with the mosses (Hoorens et al., 2009; Wardle et al., 2003b). The results from this paper broaden these findings, by

showing that mosses moderate how the patterns of rainfall input affect the decomposer subsystem. The moss layer in boreal forests is known to have a significant water retentive capacity (Price *et al.*, 1997), and by acting as a reservoir of water, it prevents the limitation of decomposer activity in the absence of new rainfall inputs.

The findings of Paper I also have implications for the understanding of how past variations and future shifts in rainfall patterns may affect ecosystem processes relevant to carbon and nutrient cycling in boreal forests. Rainfall records for the study region in northern Sweden show that over the last 120 years, large inter-annual variations occur in the total volumes of rainfall received during the growing season. One in every two years received either less that 75% or more than 120% of the long-term mean inter-annual growing season rainfall. At the extremes, the driest years received less than 50% while the wettest years received up to 190% of the mean. Our results suggest that the moss layer in boreal forests may significantly reduce the sensitivity of decomposer processes to periods of limited water availability. Further, in the study region, annual rainfall is projected to increase together with a greater number of rainfall events as a result of global climate change (Meehl & Stocker, 2007). Guided by the results in this study, increasing rainfall should reduce the dependence of decomposer organisms on moss cover, and the rates of moss-associated cyanobacterial N2-fixation and litter decomposition can be anticipated to increase significantly. Overall, this should in turn promote nutrient supply and cycling with consequences for plant productivity. Despite ample evidence that global change drivers will variously affect plant communities and the functions they perform, little is known about how the interactions between plants and other organisms like decomposers may be affected by drivers such as climate change (Tylianakis et al., 2008). In this light, our results on the role of mosses in mediating the impacts of rainfall on decomposition in boreal forests are a significant step forward through providing a clear example of the sensitivity of such interactions to global change.

3.1.2 Moss layer promotes litter decomposition across a boreal forest chronosequence

Paper II examined the effect of the moss layer on the decomposition of intercepted leaf litter across a post-fire boreal chronosequence of ten forest stands, which varied in age from 43 to 362 years. A series of removal plots were established at each stand in which the moss layer and/or the ericaceous dwarf shrubs were removed from the plots in a factorial experimental design. Unconfined leaf and needle litter from three plants species were then installed

into the removal plots at each stand and left to decompose for a period of one year. After recovery of the litter, the analysis indicated that the decomposition of leaf and needle litter was significantly affected by the presence vs. absence of the moss layer across all ten stands of the chronosequence. On average, 12% more mass of litter was lost from litter decomposing within the moss layer than in plots from which the moss layer had been removed. Several other indications of the impact of the moss layer on the decomposer activity were also observed. Soil water content within the organic horizon was found to be higher in plots with the moss layer intact than in the plots where it had been removed. In addition, moss removal reduced the concentrations of extractable mineral N from the organic soil layer by 80% across the ten stands, while in the three youngest stands the microbial biomass in the organic soil layer was reduced by 40%. These results add to the findings of Paper I, showing that the effect of the mosses on decomposition is driven by the retention of water in the moss layer, which prevents the desiccation of litter that would otherwise limit decomposer activity. Similar effects of mosses have been seen in Mediterranean pine forests, where pine litter was found to have a higher moisture content and decompose faster when a moss layer covered the soil surface (Garcia-Pausas, 2004). In combination with the findings of this study they suggest that the role played by mosses in mediating moisture effects on decomposition may be common, and with widespread implications for carbon and nutrients cycling.

The decomposition of the leaf and needle litter was also found to be affected by its position in the moss layer during decomposition. After the oneyear decomposition period, litter mass loss was on average 10% higher for the litter decomposed at the interface between the moss layer and the upper surface of the soil organic layer than on the surface of the moss layer. Similarly, mass loss was on average 6% higher for the litter inserted between the growing stems of the mosses than on the surface of the mosses. These observations are consistent with the water retentive capacity of the moss layer as the mechanism through which decomposer activity is promoted. In the absence of new moisture inputs, the moss layer loses water through evaporation, with drying starting at the upper surface and passing progressively down through the moss layer (Zotz & Kahler, 2007). In this way the microclimate deeper within the moss layer remains suitable for decomposer activity for longer periods of time. These observations, together with those made in Paper I also contradict findings from Canadian Boreal forests showing that the moss layer can retard decomposition processes by reducing soil temperatures below the moss layer and thereby potentially inhibiting microbial activity (Fenton et al., 2010). While the capacity of the moss layer to buffer soil temperatures has long been

identified as a potentially important effect (Vancleve *et al.*, 1991; Bonan & Shugart, 1989), in the Canadian study the decomposing litter was incubated at significantly greater depths than in the present study. As such, while lower temperatures may affect soil organic matter transformations deep beneath the moss layer, the results from this study show that in the upper moss layer where litterfall is intercepted and litter decomposition begins, the availability of water is the more limiting factor. Further, by retaining moisture the moss layer prolongs decomposer activity whereas, in the absence of moss cover, litter decomposing on the soil surface is more susceptible to desiccation.

The results also showed that the positive effect of the moss layer on the decomposition of the leaf and needle litter was consistent across all ten stands of the chronosequence. No differences in the magnitude of the moss effect on litter decomposition were observed among stands despite a more than two-fold increase in the depth of the moss layer. Contrary to our expectations that the increase in the depth of the moss layer might enhance the moss effect on decomposition, this result suggests that the simple presence of moss cover is sufficient to cause the observed changes in decomposer activity. This may be a consequence of the clonal nature of the growth of the feather moss P. schreberi, which spreads as a carpet across the forest floor. New individual shoots branch off from older ones in a tightly packed matrix. The density of growing shoots determines the capacity of the layer to retain moisture (Rixen & Mulder, 2005), which facilitates moss growth as well as processes driven by mosses such as litter decomposition and N₂-fixation. Overall the results from Paper II add to the findings of Paper I by confirming that under field conditions and using methodology suited to studying the fine spatial scale at which the processes under consideration operate, the moss layer in boreal forests plays a clear role in promoting the decomposition of intercepted leaf and needle litter from understory and canopy species. Further, the promotion of decomposition by mosses was surprisingly consistent across forests stands at different successional stages. This indicates that the effect of the moss layer on litter decomposition is widespread. Given the abundance of feather mosses in boreal forests (Nilsson & Wardle, 2005; Turetsky, 2003), they are therefore an ecologically important plant functional group that has an important influence on processes relevant to biogeochemical cycling in boreal ecosystems.

3.2 Functional traits and decomposition in temperate rainforests

3.2.1 Traits and decomposition of leaves and wood are decoupled

Paper III compared the patterns of functional trait variation and decomposability of leaves, twigs and wood material collected from across a

wide range of temperate rainforest tree species in New Zealand. Green leaf and litter material from 27 co-occurring tree species, including angiosperms and gymnosperms, was used to characterize the variation across these species for a suite of functional traits. Traits were chosen to reflect both the ecological strategies of the trees as well as the quality of their litter. Subsamples of the leaf, twig and wood litters were then decomposed under controlled conditions to assess the relative decomposability of the litter for each litter type from each species. Analyses of the functional trait data revealed coordination between the green leaves and leaf and twig litter, in the patterns of trait variation across the tree species. For each of these structures, both nutrient and structural traits varied along a common axis of trait covariation, consistent with the leaf economic spectrum (LES), which represents a well described tradeoff in how plants acquire and use resources (Freschet et al., 2010; Wright et al., 2004). In addition, these axes of trait covariation were strongly correlated with each other. In contrast, the pattern of variation in N and P content of the wood litter was not related to how structural traits of wood varied across species. Further, only the variation across species in the nutrient content of the wood was correlated with the axes of trait covariation of the other structures. Consequently, variation in the structural traits of wood across species was unrelated to the trait variation of the green leaves, or of the leaf and twig litter. These results build on the findings of several prior studies, with implications for the integration of resource strategies between the structures of whole plants.

Previous work involving analysis of a large database of functional traits of tree species has also revealed positive correlations between the variations in the N and P contents of leaves, stems and roots across species (Kerkhoff et al., 2006). Further, a large trait data base for neotropical trees showed that variation in the structural traits that form the wood economic spectrum (WES) was unrelated to the pattern of structural and nutrient trait variation for the LES (Baraloto et al., 2010). These observations in combination with the results in this study suggest that partial coupling of trait variation between plant structures may occur for trees and woody species. However, this contrasts with the more complete coupling of both structural and nutrient trait variation between the leaves, fine stems and roots found for wide range of plant species in the Swedish subarctic (Freschet et al., 2010). Correlations between traits of the LES and WES have also been observed in a study conducted on the Pacific Bonin Islands (Ishida et al., 2008). Overall, these observations and the findings in this study indicate that functional traits and thus potentially the resource strategies of plants, may be at least partially coordinated between plant structures. However, further work is required to establish for which species and contexts trait coupling does occur.

Overall, the relative decomposability of the litter from the trees was not coordinated between the leaf, twig and wood litter. In other words, those species with the more rapidly decomposing leaf litter did not in turn have twig litter and wood that decomposed more rapidly relative to the tree species. This was apparent for the mass loss of the litter and the loss of N and P from the litter. There were a few exceptions for which coordination in decomposition was observed, but these were related to contrasting responses of the angiosperm and gymnosperm species. The lack of coordination in the decomposition for the three litter types can be explained least in part, by examining which traits were most closely related to the decomposition of each of the litters. The decomposition of both the leaf and twig litter was consistently correlated with the C/P and lignin/N ratios of these structures, both of which were shown to be closely associated with the LES in these structures. These results are consistent with the many reports of litter decomposition being driven by the chemical composition of litter and in particular C/N and lignin/N ratios (Aerts, 1997; Couteaux et al., 1995). The lack of coordination of decomposition for these two litter types is thus surprising, in particular because trait variation was coordinated between these two structures. An immediate explanation for this contradiction was not apparent, but may be explained by potential interactions of litter quality with the decomposer community. Leaf and twig litter differ considerably in proportions of specific compounds known to require specialist decomposers (Schwarze, 2000) and thus the community of decomposers can be more adapted to one type of litter over another (Strickland et al., 2009). The assembly history of the decomposer community also has strong impacts on decomposition (Fukami et al., 2010), and may differ between species litters types.

In contrast to the leaf and twig litter, the decomposition of the wood litter was correlated only with the structural traits of the wood and in particular with wood density. Prior studies have shown that wood density is closely associated with decomposition rates of wood in South American forests (Chave *et al.*, 2005; Chambers *et al.*, 2000), and with standing stocks of undecomposed coarse woody debris (Chao *et al.*, 2009). Wood density is also considered as a trait of central importance to the WES, and one that is related to both the structure and functions of wood. Further, both in this study and in previous work, variations across species in wood density and other structural traits of wood have been shown to be decoupled from the traits of the LES (Baraloto *et al.*, 2010). As such, this study provides evidence that across a broad range of tree species, wood decomposition is decoupled from the decomposition of leaf and twig litter and that this is primarily because the traits driving wood decomposition are themselves unrelated to those driving the decomposition of

leaf and twig litter. As such, traits of the LES are not suitable predictors of the contributions of plant structures other than leaves to ecological processes such as decomposition. Further explicit consideration of the functional traits of plant organs other than leaves should greatly improve the effectiveness of ecological models describing carbon and nutrient cycling in forest ecosystems.

3.2.2 Within-species trait variation and decomposition are unrelated

Paper IV examined within- and between-species variation in the leaf and leaf litter traits, and in leaf litter decomposability, of leaf litter from 16 cooccurring temperate rainforest species in New Zealand. Leaf and litter was collected from 32 forest stands representing a strong gradient of soil nutrient availability. The contribution of trait variation within individual species to the variations in litter decomposition was assessed by decomposing litter under standardized conditions. In addition, the contributions of the two sources of trait variation to community level trait measures and decomposition at the stand level were assessed using a weighted traits approach. Significant withinspecies variation in the leaf and litter traits was observed for all 16 species in the study. On average, the magnitude of the within-species variation of the leaf and litter traits were approximately 50% of that observed between species. This observation is consistent with the few recent studies that have expressly quantified intra-specific trait variation (eg. Albert *et al.*, 2010b; Messier *et al.*, 2010). Further, for two-thirds of the species in the study, the pattern of variation in leaf and litter traits within individual species, resembled the pattern of variation across species. As such, LDMC, SLA, and the N and P contents of the leaves within each of these species all covaried along a common axis of trait variation that collectively explained between 53% and 70% of the total within-species trait variation. This pattern of within species variation conforms to the patterns shown for the LES across species, which represents a wellknown tradeoff in leaf economic strategy (Freschet et al., 2010; Wright et al., 2004). Similar patterns of trait variation within species have also been shown for a handful of species in alpine perennial shrubs (Albert *et al.*, 2010a), which together with the present results indicate that the same constraints that give rise to the LES also operate within species. However, this was not the case for all of the species in the study, and further work will be required to confirm how widely across different species an identifiable within-species leaf economic spectrum occurs.

Across most of the species, within-species trait variation was also observed to be correlated with the changes in soil nutrient status across the 32 forest stands. Of all the traits, the nutrient contents and C to N and C to P ratios of the leaves and leaf litter were most strongly associated with the soil nutrients.

Between 17% and 58% of the within-species variation in the C/N and C/P of the leaves was explained by variation among plots in soil C/N and C/P ratios. This result adds to a growing number of studies showing that leaf traits clearly respond at the within-species level to various environmental factors including temperature, rainfall, disturbance, and soil nutrients (Lagerström *et al.*, 2012; Fajardo & Piper, 2011; Lepš *et al.*, 2011; Albert *et al.*, 2010a; Jung *et al.*, 2010; Messier *et al.*, 2010; Wardle *et al.*, 2009). Further analyses of the trait variation at the community level revealed that within-species trait variation made a significant contribution to the relationships between the community level trait measures and the changes in soil nutrients. While this contribution was secondary to the effects of between-species trait variation resulting from species turnover across plots, it indicates that intraspecific trait variation can be an important component of how plant communities respond to environmental drivers (Albert *et al.*, 2010a; Messier *et al.*, 2010a; Messier *et al.*, 2010).

Considerable within-species variation in the decomposition of the leaf litter of individual species was also observed. On average across the 16 species, the coefficient of variation for the variability of mass loss within individual species was 14%. This was marginally lower than the level of variability of leaf and litter traits within species, but was nonetheless substantial in comparison with the variation in mass loss between species. Contrary to expectations, few significant relationships were observed between the variations in decomposition and leaf and litter traits within-species. The overall absence of a link between traits and decomposition within species contradicts a number of previous findings (eg. Lecerf & Chauvet, 2008; LeRoy et al., 2007; Sarivildiz, 2003). As such, the results of this study indicate that variation in traits of the LES do not drive litter decomposition within species, in contrast to the predictable trait-decomposition relationships seen between species in this and other studies (Freschet et al., 2012; Cornwell et al., 2008; Santiago, 2007). Accordingly, predictions of community level measures of litter decomposition were not improved by the integration of within-species trait variation. Instead, species mean trait values were equally good if not better predictors of how litter decomposition at the stand level varied across the soil nutrient gradient. Overall, the findings of this study indicate that leaf functional traits respond to environmental drivers in much the same way within species as between species, and within-species variation can make significant contributions to the responses of whole plant communities to variations in environmental conditions. As such, explicit consideration of within-species trait variation is necessary to improve plant trait-based assessments of plant communities and their responses to environmental conditions. However, at the within-species

level leaf and litter traits associated with the LES do not drive litter decomposition.

3.3 Summary and conclusions

The regulation of litter decomposition is driven by the interaction of three principal factors: environmental conditions; litter quality; and the decomposer community. This thesis explores two contrasting pathways by which plants and plant diversity can interact with these factors to influence litter decomposition rates in forested ecosystems. In the first half of the thesis, the indirect effect of a single functional group of plants on litter decomposition through the mediation of the availability of moisture was explored. The results from that work demonstrated a previously unrecognized role of feather mosses in driving the decomposition of vascular leaf litter in boreal forests. The highly abundant feather mosses typically cover the forest floor in a continuous mat. The structure of this moss layer results in the interception of much of the litterfall from vascular plant species such that the decomposition of the litter occurs in direct association with the feather mosses. The moss layer is also capable of retaining significant amounts of moisture from incoming rainfall. In a first step, by experimentally manipulating the patterns of rainfall inputs to the moss layer, the mosses were shown to mediate the impacts of moisture availability on litter decomposition. The patterns of moisture inputs and in particular the frequency of inputs was shown to be a major driver of both litter decomposition and the moss-associated process of cyanobacterial N₂-fixation. However, under conditions of limited moisture availability the mosses promoted the decomposition of leaf litter embedded within the moss layer by preventing the desiccation of the litter and maintaining decomposer activity. In this way the effect of the moss layer was dependent on the prevailing moisture conditions. In a second step, the effect of the moss layer on decomposition was shown to occur widely under natural conditions. The presence vs. absence of the moss layer was manipulated in experimental plots along a successional gradient of ten boreal forest stands. When intact, the moss layer was shown to significantly promote the decomposition of vascular leaf litter in a manner remarkably consistent across a 360 year successional gradient. This is despite a large increase in the depth of the moss layer and concomitant changes to the ecosystem properties of the forests as succession proceeded. Together, these results highlight that feather mosses are critical in determining how temporal variations in rainfall influence litter decomposition, and thus carbon and nutrient cycling at the forest stand scale. Importantly, the results also suggest

that the role played by feather mosses will be particularly sensitive to alteration in precipitation patterns driven by global climate change.

In the second half of this thesis, the more direct influence of plants through their impact on the quality of litter entering the decomposer subsystem was examined. Plants are the main sources of dead organic matter entering the decomposer subsystem in terrestrial ecosystems. Plant species vary widely in the functional characteristics or traits of their leaves and other organs. Many of these functional traits in turn determine the substrate quality of dead plant organic matter for decomposer organisms. In this way, the differences between plant species in the functional traits of their leaves and leaf litter are widely used as indicators of the quality of their litter and to predict the rates of decomposition of that litter. In separate studies, two poorly explored aspects of trait-decomposition relationships were explored: the links between the traits of leaves and other plant organs including twigs and wood and the decomposability of these organs; and the potential for the variability of functional traits within species to drive litter decomposition. The results from these studies revealed that the decomposition of leaf, twig and wood litter of 27 co-occurring temperate rainforest tree species was largely uncoordinated. The lack of coordination in the decomposition of the wood with the two other organs was because wood decomposition was driven largely by wood density, which itself was unrelated to the chemical traits driving leaf and twig litter decomposition. The traits driving the decomposition of the leaf and twig litter were coordinated but this did not lead to coordination in the decomposition of the two organs. Together, these results indicate that plant functional traits commonly used as indicators of leaf litter quality are insufficient to either describe the traits or predict the decomposability of other plant organs. Therefore, explicit consideration of the functional traits of other plant organs is needed to improve models of C and nutrient cycling in forest ecosystems. The results also revealed that the functional traits of leaves and leaf litter of 16 cooccurring temperate rainforest species all showed considerable within-species variation. For the majority of species, leaf and litter traits varied predictably in response to variability in soil nutrient availability, and patterns of trait covariation within these species showed similar patterns to that commonly seen between species. Considerable within-species variation in leaf litter decomposition was also observed. However, unlike the well-described relationships documented between interspecific trait variation and litter decomposition, intraspecific variation in the leaf and litter traits was largely unrelated to the variations in litter decomposability within species. Consequently, intraspecific variability in leaf and litter traits were shown to make a significant contribution to how trait measures at the whole plant

community responded to differences in soil nutrient availability among plots, but were unable to predict litter decomposition rates at the whole community level. These results highlight intra-specific trait variation is an important component of plant community responses to environmental drivers but this trait variation is unrelated to the decomposition of leaf litter within species.

Overall, the results of this thesis illustrate the important and contrasting impacts plants have on litter decomposition, and contribute to the understanding of the complex interactions between the multiple factors regulating litter decomposition in forest ecosystems. They show that a single functional group of plants can have a major impact on the decomposer subsystem in forests ecosystems, largely independent of other plant species and despite representing only a small fraction of the total standing biomass. They also highlight the importance of understanding the combined influence of biotic and abiotic drivers on decomposition in order to make clear predictions of how changing climatic conditions will affect ecosystem processes. The results further suggest that efforts to model C and nutrient cycling in forest ecosystems should take into consideration the functional traits of other plant organs in addition to those of leaves to more accurately represent the effects of whole plants on key ecosystem processes like decomposition. Finally, they reveal that the identity and relative abundance of plant species are major drivers of litter decomposition at the community level. As a consequence, changes to plant community composition caused by biodiversity loss, shifting species distributions due to climate change, eutrophication and changing land use all have the potential to significantly alter litter decomposition and nutrient cycling.

4 References

- Aerts, R. (1997). Climate, Leaf Litter Chemistry and Leaf Litter Decomposition in Terrestrial Ecosystems: A Triangular Relationship. *Oikos* 79, 439-449.
- Albert, C.H., Grassein, F., Schurr, F.M., Vieilledent, G. & Violle, C. (2011). When and how should intraspecific variability be considered in trait-based plant ecology? *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics*, 1-9.
- Albert, C.H., Thuiller, W., Yoccoz, N.G., Douzet, R., Aubert, S. & Lavorel, S. (2010a). A multi-trait approach reveals the structure and the relative importance of intra- vs. interspecific variability in plant traits. *Functional Ecology* 24, 1192-1201.
- Albert, C.H., Thuiller, W., Yoccoz, N.G., Soudant, A., Boucher, F., Saccone, P. & Lavorel, S. (2010b). Intraspecific functional variability: extent, structure and sources of variation. *Journal of Ecology* 98, 604-613.
- Alvarez-Sanchez, J. & Guevara, S. (1999). Litter Interception on Astrocaryum mexicanum Liebm. (Palmae) in a Tropical Rain Forest. *Biotropica* 31, 89.
- Anderson, J.P.E. & Domsch, K.H. (1978). A physiological method for the quantitative measurement of microbial biomass in soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 10, 215-221.
- Austin, A.T., Yahdjian, L., Stark, J.M., Belnap, J., Porporato, A., Norton, U., Ravetta, D.A. & Schaeffer, S.M. (2004). Water pulses and biogeochemical cycles in arid and semiarid ecosystems. *Oecologia* 141(2), 221-235.
- Baraloto, C., Timothy Paine, C.E., Poorter, L., Beauchene, J., Bonal, D., Domenach, A.-M., Hérault, B., Patiño, S., Roggy, J.-C. & Chave, J. (2010). Decoupled leaf and stem economics in rain forest trees. In: *Ecology Letters*. pp. 1338-1347.
- Bardgett, R.D. (2005). *The Biology of Soil: A Community and Ecosystem Approach*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bardgett, R.D. & Wardle, D.A. (2010). Aboveground-Belowground Linkages: Biotic Interactions, Ecosystem Processes, and Global Change: Oxford University Press. (Oxford Series in Ecology and Evolution; 92). ISBN 9780199546886.
- Benjamini, Y. & Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B* (*Methodological*) 57, 289-300.
- Bitterlich, W. (1984). The relascope idea: relative measurements in forestry. *Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau*.

- Bloom, R.G. & Mallik, A.U. (2006). Relationships between ericaceous vegetation and soil nutrient status in a post-fire Kalmia angustifolia-black spruce chronosequence. *Plant and Soil* 289, 211-226.
- Bonan, G.B. & Shugart, H.H. (1989). Environmental Factors and Ecological Processes in Boreal Forests. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 20, 1-28 CR - Copyright © 1989 Annual Reviews.
- Busby, J.R., Bliss, L.C. & Hamilton, C.D. (1978). Microclimate control of growth-rates and habitats of boreal forest mosses, tomenthypnum-nitens and hylocomium-splendens. *Ecological Monographs* 48(2), 95-110.
- Cadisch, G. & Giller, K.E. (1997). Driven by nature: plant litter quality and decomposition.
- Cardinale, B.J., Duffy, J.E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D.U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G.M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D.a., Kinzig, A.P., Daily, G.C., Loreau, M., Grace, J.B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D.S. & Naeem, S. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature* 486, 59-67.
- Chambers, J.Q., Higuchi, N., Schimel, J.P., Ferreira, L.V. & Melack, J.M. (2000). Decomposition and carbon cycling of dead trees in tropical forests of the central Amazon. *Oecologia* 122(3), 380-388.
- Chao, K.J., Phillips, O.L., Baker, T.R., Peacock, J., Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Vásquez Martínez, R., Monteagudo, A. & Torres-Lezama, A. (2009). After trees die: quantities and determinants of necromass across Amazonia. *Biogeosciences* 6, 1615-1626.
- Chave, J., Andalo, C., Brown, S., Cairns, M.A., Chambers, J.Q., Eamus, D., Folster, H., Fromard, F., Higuchi, N., Kira, T., Lescure, J.P., Nelson, B.W., Ogaqa, H., Puig, H., Riera, B. & Yamakura, T. (2005). Tree allometry and improved estimation of carbon stocks. *Oecologia* 145, 87-99.
- Chave, J., Coomes, D., Jansen, S., Lewis, S.L., Swenson, N.G. & Zanne, A.E. (2009). Towards a worldwide wood economics spectrum. *Ecology Letters* 12(4), 351-366.
- Chou, W.W., Silver, W.L., Jackson, R.D., Thompson, A.W. & Allen-Diaz, B. (2008). The sensitivity of annual grassland carbon cycling to the quantity and timing of rainfall. *Global Change Biology* 14(6), 1382-1394.
- Cornelissen, J.H.C. (1996). An experimental comparison of leaf decomposition rates in a wide range of temperate plant species and types. *Journal of Ecology* 84, 573-582.
- Cornelissen, J.H.C., Lavorel, S., Garnier, E., Díaz, S., Buchmann, N., Gurvich, D.E., Reich, P.B., Steege, H.T., Morgan, H.D., Heijden, M.G.A.V.D., Pausas, J.G. & Poorter, H. (2003). A handbook of protocols for standardised and easy measurement of plant functional traits worldwide. *Australian Journal of Botany* 51(4), 335-335.
- Cornwell, W.K., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Amatangelo, K., Dorrepaal, E., Eviner, V.T., Godoy, O., Hobbie, S.E., Hoorens, B., Kurokawa, H., Pérez-Harguindeguy, N., Quested, H.M., Santiago, L.S., Wardle, D.A., Wright, I.J., Aerts, R., Allison, S.D., Van Bodegom, P., Brovkin, V., Chatain, A., Callaghan, T.V., Díaz, S., Garnier, E., Gurvich, D.E., Kazakou, E., Klein, J.A., Read, J., Reich, P.B., Soudzilovskaia, N.A., Vaieretti, M.V. & Westoby, M. (2008). Plant species traits are the predominant control on litter decomposition rates within biomes worldwide. *Ecology Letters* 11(10), 1065-1071.
- Couteaux, M.M., Bottner, P. & Berg, B. (1995). Litter decomposition, climate and litter quality. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 10(2), 63-66.



- Coxson, D.S. & Kershaw, K.A. (1983). Rehydration response of nitrogenase activity and carbon fixation in terrestrial nostoc-commune from stipa-bouteloa grassland. *Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique* 61(10), 2658-2668.
- De Deyn, G.B., Raaijmakers, C.E., Van Ruijven, J., Berendse, F. & Van Der Putten, W.H. (2004). Plant species identity and diversity effects on different trophic levels of nematodes in the soil food web. *Oikos* 106, 576-586.
- DeLuca, T., Nilsson, M.-C. & Zackrisson, O. (2002a). Nitrogen mineralization and phenol accumulation along a fire chronosequence in northern Sweden. *Oecologia* 133, 206-214.
- DeLuca, T.H., Zackrisson, O., Nilsson, M.C. & Sellstedt, A. (2002b). Quantifying nitrogen-fixation in feather moss carpets of boreal forests. *Nature* 419(6910), 917-920.
- Diaz, S., Hodgson, J.G., Thompson, K., Cabido, M., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Jalili, A., Montserrat-Martí, G., Grime, J.P., Zarrinkamar, F., Asri, Y., Band, S.R., Basconcelo, S., Castro-Díez, P., Funes, G., Hamzehee, B., Khoshnevi, M., Pérez-Harguindeguy, N., Pérez-Rontomé, M.C., Shirvany, F.A., Vendramini, F., Yazdani, S., Abbas-Azimi, R., Bogaard, A., Boustani, S., Charles, M., Dehghan, M., Torres-Espuny, L., Falczuk, V., Guerrero-Campo, J., Hynd, A., Jones, G., Kowsary, E., Kazemi-Saeed, F., Maestro-Martínez, M., Romo-Díez, A., Shaw, S., Siavash, B., Villar-Salvador, P. & Zak, M.R. (2004). The plant traits that drive ecosystems: Evidence from three continents. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 15(3), 295-304.
- Eviner, V.T. & Chapin III, F.S. (2003). F UNCTIONAL M ATRIX : A Conceptual Framework for Predicting Multiple Plant Effects on Ecosystem Processes. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 34, 455-485.
- Fajardo, A. & Piper, F.I. (2011). Intraspecific trait variation and covariation in a widespread tree species (Nothofagus pumilio) in southern Chile. *The New phytologist* 189, 259-71.
- Fenton, N.J., Bergeron, Y. & Paré, D. (2010). Decomposition rates of bryophytes in managed boreal forests: influence of bryophyte species and forest harvesting. *Plant and Soil* 336, 499-508.
- Fortunel, C., Garnier, E., Joffre, R., Kazakou, E., Quested, H., Grigulis, K., Lavorel, S., Ansquer, P.,
 Castro, H., Cruz, P., Dolezal, J., Eriksson, O., Freitas, H., Golodets, C., Jouany, C., Kigel, J.,
 Kleyer, M., Lehsten, V., Leps, J., Meier, T., Pakeman, R., Papadimitriou, M., Papanastasis,
 V.P., Quétier, F., Robson, M., Sternberg, M., Theau, J.-P., Thébault, A. & Zarovali, M.
 (2009). Leaf traits capture the effects of land use changes and climate on litter
 decomposability of grasslands across Europe. *Ecology* 90, 598-611.
- Freschet, G.T., Aerts, R. & Cornelissen, J.H.C. (2012). A plant economics spectrum of litter decomposability. *Functional Ecology* 26, 56-65.
- Freschet, G.T., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Van Logtestijn, R.S.P. & Aerts, R. (2010). Evidence of the 'plant economics spectrum' in a subarctic flora. *Journal of Ecology* 98, 362-373.
- Frolking, S. (1997). Sensitivity of spruce/moss boreal forest net ecosystem productivity to seasonal anomalies in weather. *Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres* 102(D24), 29053-29064.
- Fukami, T., Dickie, I.a., Paula Wilkie, J., Paulus, B.C., Park, D., Roberts, A., Buchanan, P.K. & Allen, R.B. (2010). Assembly history dictates ecosystem functioning: evidence from wood decomposer communities. *Ecology Letters* 13, 675-84.
- Garcia-Pausas, J. (2004). Litter decomposition and faunal activity in Mediterranean forest soils: effects of N content and the moss layer. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 36, 989-997.
- Garnier, E., Cortez, J., Billès, G., Navas, M.-L., Roumet, C., Debussche, M., Laurent, G., Blanchard, A., Aubry, D., Bellmann, A., Neill, C., Toussaint, J.-P., Arnier, E.R.I.C.G., Ortez, J.A.C. &

Ille, G.E.B. (2004). Plant Functional Markers Capture Ecosystem Properties During Secondary Succession. *Ecology* 85, 2630-2637.

- Garnier, E., Lavorel, S., Ansquer, P., Castro, H., Cruz, P., Dolezal, J., Eriksson, O., Fortunel, C., Freitas, H., Golodets, C., Grigulis, K., Jouany, C., Kazakou, E., Kigel, J., Kleyer, M., Lehsten, V., Leps, J., Meier, T., Pakeman, R., Papadimitriou, M., Papanastasis, V.P., Quested, H., Quétier, F., Robson, M., Roumet, C., Rusch, G., Skarpe, C., Sternberg, M., Theau, J.-P., Thébault, A., Vile, D. & Zarovali, M.P. (2007). Assessing the effects of landuse change on plant traits, communities and ecosystem functioning in grasslands: a standardized methodology and lessons from an application to 11 European sites. *Annals of botany* 99, 967-85.
- Gessner, M.O., Swan, C.M., Dang, C.K., McKie, B.G., Bardgett, R.D., Wall, D.H. & Hättenschwiler, S. (2010). Diversity meets decomposition. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 25, 372-80.
- Grime, J.P., Thompson, K., Hunt, R., Hodgson, J.G., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Rorison, I.H., Hendry,
 G.A.F., Ashenden, T.W., Askew, A.P., Band, S.R., Booth, R.E., Bossard, C.C., Campbell,
 B.D., Cooper, J.E.L., Davison, A.W., Gupta, P.L., Hall, W., Hand, D.W., Hannah, M.A.,
 Hillier, S.H., Hodkinson, D.J., Jalili, A., Liu, Z., Mackey, J.M.L., Matthews, N., Mowforth,
 M.A., Neal, A.M., Reader, R.J., Reiling, K., RossFraser, W., Spencer, R.E., Sutton, F.,
 Tasker, D.E., Thorpe, P.C. & Whitehouse, J. (1997). Integrated screening validates primary
 axes of specialisation in plants. *Oikos* 79(2), 259-281.
- Hart, S.A. & Chen, H.Y.H. (2008). Fire, Logging, and Overstory Affect Understory Abundance, Diversity, and Composition in Boreal Forest. *Ecological Monographs* 78, 123-140.
- Hattenschwiler, S., Tiunov, A.V. & Scheu, S. (2005). Biodiversity and Litter Decomposition in Terrestrial Ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics 36, 191-218.
- Hendricks, J.J., Wilson, C.A. & Boring, L.R. (2002). Foliar litter position and decomposition in a firemaintained longleaf pine-wiregrass ecosystem. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 32, 928-941.
- Hessel, J.W.D. (1982). The climate and weather of Westland. NZ Met Serv Misc Publ 115, 10-10.
- Hoorens, B., Stroetenga, M. & Aerts, R. (2009). Litter Mixture Interactions at the Level of Plant Functional Types are Additive. *Ecosystems* 13, 90-98.
- Hulshof, C.M. & Swenson, N.G. (2010). Variation in leaf functional trait values within and across individuals and species: an example from a Costa Rican dry forest. *Functional Ecology* 24, 217-223.
- Ishida, A., Nakano, T., Yazaki, K., Matsuki, S., Koike, N., Lauenstein, D.L., Shimizu, M. & Yamashita, N. (2008). Coordination between leaf and stem traits related to leaf carbon gain and hydraulics across 32 drought-tolerant angiosperms. *Oecologia* 156, 193-202.
- Jentsch, A. & Beierkuhnlein, C. (2008). Research frontiers in climate change: Effects of extreme meteorological events on ecosystems. *Comptes Rendus Geoscience* 340(9-10), 621-628.
- Joanisse, G.D., Bradley, R.L., Preston, C.M. & Munson, a.D. (2007). Soil enzyme inhibition by condensed litter tannins may drive ecosystem structure and processes: the case of Kalmia angustifolia. *The New phytologist* 175, 535-46.
- Jung, V., Violle, C., Mondy, C., Hoffmann, L. & Muller, S. (2010). Intraspecific variability and traitbased community assembly. *Journal of Ecology* 98, 1134-1140.
- Kerkhoff, A.J., Fagan, W.F., Elser, J.J. & Enquist, B.J. (2006). Phylogenetic and growth form variation in the scaling of nitrogen and phosphorus in the seed plants. *The American naturalist* 168(4), E103–E122-E103–E122.

- Lagerström, A., Nilsson, M.-C. & Wardle, D.a. (2012). Decoupled responses of tree and shrub leaf and litter trait values to ecosystem retrogression across an island area gradient. *Plant and Soil*.
- Lagerstrom, A., Nilsson, M.C., Zackrisson, O. & Wardle, D.A. (2007). Ecosystem input of nitrogen through biological fixation in feather mosses during ecosystem retrogression. *Functional Ecology* 21(6), 1027-1033.
- Lang, S.I., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Klahn, T., van Logtestijn, R.S.P., Broekman, R., Schweikert, W. & Aerts, R. (2009). An experimental comparison of chemical traits and litter decomposition rates in a diverse range of subarctic bryophyte, lichen and vascular plant species. *Journal of Ecology* 97, 886-900.
- Leathwick, J.R., Overton, J.M. & McLeod, M. (2003). An Environmental Domain Classification of New Zealand and Its Use as a Tool for Biodiversity Management. *Conservation Biology* 17(6), 1612-1623.
- Lecerf, A. & Chauvet, E. (2008). Intraspecific variability in leaf traits strongly affects alder leaf decomposition in a stream. *Basic and Applied Ecology* 9, 598-605.
- Legare, S., Pare, D. & Bergeron, Y. (2005). Influence of aspen on forest floor properties in black spruce-dominated stands. *Plant and Soil* 275(1-2), 207-220.
- Lepš, J., de Bello, F., Šmilauer, P. & Doležal, J. (2011). Community trait response to environment: disentangling species turnover vs intraspecific trait variability effects. *Ecography* 34, 856-863.
- LeRoy, C.J., Whitham, T.G., Wooley, S.C. & Marks, J.C. (2007). Within-species variation in foliar chemistry influences leaf-litter decomposition in a Utah river. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* 26, 426-438.
- Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Inchausti, P., Bengtsson, J., Grime, J.P., Hector, A., Hooper, D.U., Huston, M.A., Raffaelli, D., Schmid, B., Tilman, D. & Wardle, D.A. (2001). Ecology - Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: Current knowledge and future challenges. *Science* 294, 804-808.
- Maestre, F.T., Escudero, A., Martinez, I., Guerrero, C. & Rubio, A. (2005). Does spatial pattern matter to ecosystem functioning? Insights from biological soil crusts. *Functional Ecology* 19, 566-573.
- Maestre, F.T., Quero, J.L., Gotelli, N.J., Escudero, A., Ochoa, V., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Garcia-Gomez, M., Bowker, M.A., Soliveres, S., Escolar, C., Garcia-Palacios, P., Berdugo, M., Valencia, E., Gozalo, B., Gallardo, A., Aguilera, L., Arredondo, T., Blones, J., Boeken, B., Bran, D., Conceicao, A.A., Cabrera, O., Chaieb, M., Derak, M., Eldridge, D.J., Espinosa, C.I., Florentino, A., Gaitan, J., Gatica, M.G., Ghiloufi, W., Gomez-Gonzalez, S., Gutierrez, J.R., Hernandez, R.M., Huang, X., Huber-Sannwald, E., Jankju, M., Miriti, M., Monerris, J., Mau, R.L., Morici, E., Naseri, K., Ospina, A., Polo, V., Prina, A., Pucheta, E., Ramirez-Collantes, D.A., Romao, R., Tighe, M., Torres-Diaz, C., Val, J., Veiga, J.P., Wang, D. & Zaady, E. (2012). Plant Species Richness and Ecosystem Multifunctionality in Global Drylands. *Science* 335, 214-218.
- Maestre, F.T. & Reynolds, J.F. (2007). Amount or pattern? Grassland responses to the heterogeneity and availability of two key resources. *Ecology* 88(2), 501-511.
- McNaughton, S.J., Oesterheld, M., Frank, D.A. & Williams, K.J. (1989). Ecosystem-level patterns of primary productivity and herbivory in terrestrial habitats. *Nature* 341, 142-144.
- Meehl, G.A. & Stocker, T.F. (2007). Global Climate Projections. ISBN 978-0-521-70596-7.
- Messier, J., McGill, B.J. & Lechowicz, M.J. (2010). How do traits vary across ecological scales? A case for trait-based ecology. *Ecology Letters* 13, no-no.

- Nilsson, M.-C. (1994). Separation of allelopathy and resource competition by the boreal dwarf shrub Empetrum hermaphroditum Hagerup. *Oecologia* 98, 1-7.
- Nilsson, M.-C., Högberg, P., Zackrisson, O. & Fengyou, W. (1993). Allelopathic effects by Empetrum hermaphroditum on development and nitrogen uptake by roots and mycorrhizae of Pinus silvestris. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 71, 620-628.
- Nilsson, M.-C. & Wardle, D.a. (2005). Understory vegetation as a forest ecosystem driver: evidence from the northern Swedish boreal forest. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 3, 421-428.
- Okland, R.H. & Okland, T. (1996). Population biology of the clonal moss Hylocomium splendens in Norwegian boreal spruce forests .2. Effects of density. *Journal of Ecology* 84(1), 63-69.
- Poorter, L., McDonald, I., Alarcón, A., Fichtler, E., Licona, J.-C., Peña-Claros, M., Sterck, F., Villegas, Z. & Sass-Klaassen, U. (2010). The importance of wood traits and hydraulic conductance for the performance and life history strategies of 42 rainforest tree species. *New Phytologist* 185(2), 481-492.
- Price, A.G., Dunham, K., Carleton, T.J. & Band, L.E. (1997). Variability of water fluxes through the black spruce (Picea mariana) canopy and feather moss (Pleurozium schreberi) carpet in the boreal forest of Northern Manitoba. *Journal of Hydrology* 196, 310-323.
- Price, M.L. & Butler, L.G. (1977). Rapid visual estimation and spectrophotometric determination of tannin content of sorghum grain. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 25(6), 1268-1273.
- Rixen, C. & Mulder, C.P.H. (2005). Improved water retention links high species richness with increased productivity in arctic tundra moss communities. *Oecologia* 146(2), 287-299.
- Russo, S.E., Jenkins, K.L., Wiser, S.K., Uriarte, M., Duncan, R.P. & Coomes, D.A. (2010). Interspecific relationships among growth, mortality and xylem traits of woody species from New Zealand. *Functional Ecology* 24(2), 253-262.
- Rydgren, K., De Kroon, H., Okland, R.H. & Van Groenendael, J. (2001). Effects of fine-scale disturbances on the demography and population dynamics of the clonal moss Hylocomium splendens. *Journal of Ecology* 89(3), 395-405.
- Santiago, L.S. (2007). Extending the leaf economics spectrum to decomposition: evidence from a tropical forest. *Ecology* 88(5), 1126-1131.
- Sariyildiz, T. (2003). Interactions between litter quality, decomposition and soil fertility: a laboratory study. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 35, 391-399.
- Scherer, S., Ernst, A., Chen, T.W. & Boger, P. (1984). Rewetting of drought-resistant blue-green-algae - time course of water-uptake and reappearance of respiration, photosynthesis, and nitrogenfixation. *Oecologia* 62(3), 418-423.
- Schöllhorn, R. & Burris, R.H. (1967). Acetylene as a competitive inhibitor of N-2 fixation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 58(1), 213-216.
- Schwarze, F.W.M.R. (2000). Fungal strategies of wood decay in trees. Berlin: Springer.
- Schweitzer, J.a., Bailey, J.K., Rehill, B.J., Martinsen, G.D., Hart, S.C., Lindroth, R.L., Keim, P. & Whitham, T.G. (2004). Genetically based trait in a dominant tree affects ecosystem processes. *Ecology Letters* 7, 127-134.
- SMHI Väder och Vatten: en tifning från SMHI / Sveriges Meterologiska och Hydrologiska Institut. In, Norrköping2000.
- Sterck, F.J., Zweifel, R. & Sass-Klaassen, U.T.E. (2008). Persisting soil drought reduces leaf specific conductivity in Scots pine (Pinus. *Tree Physiology* (Figure 1), 529-536.

- Strickland, M.S., Osburn, E., Lauber, C., Fierer, N. & Bradford, M.A. (2009). Litter quality is in the eye of the beholder: initial decomposition rates as a function of inoculum characteristics. *Functional Ecology* 23, 627-636.
- Suding, K.N., Lavorel, S., Chapin, F.S., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Díaz, S., Garnier, E., Goldberg, D., Hooper, D.U., Jackson, S.T. & Navas, M.-L. (2008). Scaling environmental change through the community-level: a trait-based response-and-effect framework for plants. *Global Change Biology* 14, 1125-1140.
- Swift, M.J., Heal, O.W. & Anderson, J.M. (1979). Decomposition in terrestrial ecosystems.
- Turetsky, M.R. (2003). The role of bryophytes in carbon and nitrogen cycling. Bryologist 106, 395-409.
- Turetsky, M.R., Mack, M.C., Hollingsworth, T.N. & Harden, J.W. (2010). The role of mosses in ecosystem succession and function in Alaska's boreal forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 40, 1237-1264.
- Tylianakis, J.M., Didham, R.K., Bascompte, J. & Wardle, D.A. (2008). Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 11(12), 1351-1363.
- Vancleve, K., Chapin, F.S., Dyrness, C.T. & Viereck, L.A. (1991). Element cycling in taiga forests state-factor control. *BioScience* 41(2), 78-88.
- Violle, C., Enquist, B.J., McGill, B.J., Jiang, L., Albert, C.H., Hulshof, C., Jung, V. & Messier, J. (2012). The return of the variance: intraspecific variability in community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 1-9.
- Violle, C., Navas, M.-L., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I. & Garnier, E. (2007). Let the concept of trait be functional! *Oikos* 116, 882-892.
- Wall, D.H., Bradford, M.A., St. John, M.G., Trofymow, j.a., Behan-Pelletier, V., Bignell, D.E.,
 Dangerfield, J.M., Parton, W.J., Rusek, J., Voigt, W., Wolters, V., Gardel, H.Z., Ayuke,
 F.O., Bashford, R., Beljakova, O.I., Bohlen, P.J., Brauman, A., Flemming, S., Henschel,
 J.R., Johnson, D.I., Jones, T.H., Kovarova, M., Kranabetter, J.M., Kutny, L., Lin, K.-C.,
 Maryati, M., Masse, D., Pokarzhevskii, A., Rahman, H., Sabar, M.G., Salamon, J.-A., Swift,
 M.J., Varela, A., Vasconcelos, H.I., White, D. & Zou, X. (2008). Global decomposition
 experiment shows soil animal impacts on decomposition are climate-dependent. *Global Change Biology*, 2661-2677.
- Wardle, D.A. (1993). Changes in the microbial biomass and metabolic quotient during leaf-litter succession in some New Zealand forest and scrubland ecosystems. *Functional Ecology* 7(3), 346-355.
- Wardle, D.A. (2002). Communities and Ecosystems : Linking the Aboveground and Belowground Components: Princeton University Press. (Austral Ecology; 29). ISBN 0691074879.
- Wardle, D.A. (2003). Determinants of litter mixing effects in a Swedish boreal forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35, 827-835.
- Wardle, D.A., Bardgett, R.D., Callaway, R.M. & Van Der Putten, W.H. (2011). Terrestrial ecosystem responses to species gains and losses. *Science* 332, 1273-1277.
- Wardle, D.A., Bardgett, R.D., Walker, L.R. & Bonner, K.I. (2009). Among-and within-species variation in plant litter decomposition in contrasting long-term chronosequences. *Functional Ecology* 23, 442-453.
- Wardle, D.A., Bonner, K.I. & Barker, G.M. (2002). Linkages between plant litter decomposition, litter quality, and vegetation responses to herbivores. *Functional Ecology* 16(5), 585-595.

- Wardle, D.A., Hörnberg, G., Zackrisson, O., Kalela-Brundin, M. & Coomes, D.A. (2003a). Long-Term Effects of Wildfire on Ecosystem Properties across an Island Area Gradient. *Science* 300, 972-975.
- Wardle, D.A., Nilsson, M.C., Zackrisson, O. & Gallet, C. (2003b). Determinants of litter mixing effects in a Swedish boreal forest. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 35(6), 827-835.
- Wardle, D.A. & Zackrisson, O. (2005). Effects of species and functional group loss on island ecosystem properties. *Nature* 435, 806-10.
- Wardle, P. (1991). Vegetaion of New Zealand: Cambridge University Press, New York.
- West, A.W. & Sparling, G.P. (1986). Modifications to the substrate-induced respiration method to permit measurement of microbial biomass in soils of differing water contents. *Journal of Microbiological Methods* 5, 177-189.
- Wright, I.J., Reich, P.B., Westoby, M., Ackerly, D.D., Baruch, Z., Bongers, F., Cavender-Bares, J.,
 Chapin, T., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Diemer, M., Flexas, J., Garnier, E., Groom, P.K., Gulias, J.,
 Hikosaka, K., Lamont, B.B., Lee, T., Lee, W., Lusk, C., Midgley, J.J., Navas, M.-L.,
 Niinemets, U., Oleksyn, J., Osada, N., Poorter, H., Poot, P., Prior, L., Pyankov, V.I.,
 Roumet, C., Thomas, S.C., Tjoelker, M.G., Veneklaas, E.J. & Villar, R. (2004). The
 worldwide leaf economics spectrum. *Nature* 428(6985), 821-827.
- Zackrisson, O., DeLuca, T.H., Nilsson, M.C., Sellstedt, A. & Berglund, L.M. (2004). Nitrogen fixation increases with successional age in boreal forests. *Ecology* 85(12), 3327-3334.
- Zackrisson, O., Nilsson, M.C. & Wardle, D.A. (1996). Key ecological function of charcoal from wildfire in the Boreal forest. *Oikos* 77(1), 10-19.
- Zotz, G. & Kahler, H. (2007). A moss "canopy" Small-scale differences in microclimate and physiological traits in Tortula ruralis. *Flora Morphology, Distribution, Functional Ecology of Plants* 202, 661-666.

Acknowledgements

I would first like to thank all my supervisors for everything you have done to make this project possible and for all I have learned from you. David and Marie-Charlotte, thanks for being such a great team! David, thank you for having the confidence in me to run amok in Westland and for your amazing organization. I also especially appreciate all the help and attention received in the writing process. Marie-Charlotte, thank-you for your wisdom and helping me to find much needed perspective at times. Duane, thanks for teaching me about Westland, helping scout field sites and for fun in the field.

Thanks to friends and colleagues at SLU who have helped and encouraged me in innumerable ways. Thanks especially to Michael Gundale, Greg Freschet, Bright Kumordzi and Maja Sundqvist for input on various parts of this project from advice, discussions, comments and statistics to GPS coordinates and map making. Thanks to Ida Taberman for help with databases. Thanks to Pablo Martin, Helena Gustavsson, Abdulmajid Mahomoud, Morgan Karlsson Mark Blackburn and Till Jochum for all your assistance in the lab in Umeå and/or in the field in Arvidsjaur. Thanks especially to Till for discovering the joys of dental floss and lying on the forest floor.

I am very grateful to all the folk at Landcare in Lincoln who were so welcoming and made it such a pleasure to work in and explore Aoteroa. Many thanks in particular to Sarah Richardson, Mark St John, Ian Dickie, Peter Bellingham and Larry Burrows. I really appreciate all the tips, discussions, advice and help you gave me. Thanks to Chris Morse, Rowan Buxton, Simon Burrows, Sophie Walker, Jessica Thorn, and Robert Holdaway for much appreciated time in the field. Thanks also to Karen Boot, Gaye Rattray, Hugh Gourlay, Murray Dawson, Anna Heller and Graeme Rogers for assistance in the lab.

Thanks to the "Svenssons" for having stopped and pulled my car back onto the road on a September evening near Arvidsjaur. Thanks also to the Whateroa

service station for coming to the rescue and pulling my car out from where it should never have gone.

Many thanks to friends who are just great! Thanks especially to Maja, for among many things swapping notes on our respective journeys. Thanks ofcourse also to Till, Dan, Jakob, Niles and Eliza, Björn, Rose and Andreas, Andrea and Ida for all the fun we have had in Umeå and lending an ear when needed. Arnoud and Suzanne, Jo and Joanna thanks for many great adventures on the South Island.

Mum and Dad, Katie, Jo, Tony, Sam, Kerry thanks for all the support and encouragement.

Shona, thank you for all the love and encouragement, for being patient and for being you.